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--- Upon commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 11:03 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We do have up for the next panel the hydroelectric, other revenue witnesses.  Ms. Frain has come back from her prior attendance, and joining her will be Mr. Ken Lacivita, and I wonder if he could come forward and be sworn.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION – PANEL 3 - REGULATED HYDRO OTHER REVENUES

Joan Frain, Previously Sworn


Ken Lacivita, Sworn

Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Now, welcome, Mr. Lacivita.  You are, as I understand it, the director of trading and origination for OPG energy markets.


MR. LACIVITA:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  That's a division of Ontario Power Generation Inc.?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And you, as I understand it, have responsibility among, other things, for the management of OPG's trading group?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, I do.


MR. PENNY:  You also have the responsibility for energy contracting, including physical, financial and ancillary contracts?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And, as well, you look after the management of water and power-related legacy contracts that were entered into by Ontario Hydro prior to the creation of OPG?


MR. LACIVITA:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have a degree from the University of Toronto in applied sciences, civil engineering?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have worked for OPG, as I understand it, since 1978?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have held a variety of positions, but since roughly 1997 have been in the trading aspect of the business?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have held your current position since 2005?


MR. LACIVITA:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You are a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You, sir, were either supervised, prepared or had prepared under your supervision the evidence in this case dealing with other revenues from the hydroelectric business?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And also were involved in the preparation of answers to interrogatories on that evidence?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And do you adopt that evidence insofar as you were involved in its preparation?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, I do.


MR. PENNY:  Ms. Frain, I understand that you also had some involvement in the preparation of the evidence on the other revenue from the hydroelectric business?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Similarly, you were involved in answers to some the interrogatories in that area?


MS. FRAIN:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt those answers and that evidence?


MS. FRAIN:  I do.


MR. PENNY:  Thank you.


Now, Mr. Chairman, I had one issue that I was going to address in the examination-in-chief with Mr. Lacivita that deals with a recent update to one of the proposals.  I also understand Mr. Thompson had some questions of Ms. Frain that relate not to this topic, but to some issues left over from Friday.


I don't know whether you want me to just proceed with the explanation on today's evidence or whether we should deal with Mr. Thompson's questions on the O&M budget.


MR. KAISER:  Are you ready to proceed, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am, sir.  It would be 

equally convenient just to do it as part of my examination of panel 3.


MR. KAISER:  Let's do that.  It probably makes more sense.


MR. PENNY:  That's fine.  I just say, by the by, Mr. Chairman, that Mr. Thompson had enquired whether OPG took exception to him asking questions on Friday's panel, and the short answer is we don't.  We are willing to -- without protest, I suppose, other than at a generic level, willing for Mr. Thompson to proceed in that manner.


I did want to say, though, just as a general proposition, that it is our expectation that people will be here when they have questions and, if not, that they have others arrange to ask questions for them and not, with the benefit of having read the transcript and not being here, come up with questions after the fact.  But in the circumstances that Mr. Thompson has described, and, in particular - and I thank my friend for this - in light of the fact that he has advised us of what it is that he wants to ask about, we're happy to proceed in that way today on the particular circumstances that that presented.


So, Mr. Lacivita, let me just deal with the one issue that was the recent development.  It has to do with the proposal for the sharing of revenues from segregated mode of operation.  And there was an update to the evidence which explained -- which changed the proposal in one respect and gave a brief explanation for the reason for that change.


But I wonder if you could just walk the Board through what the -- what the change in the proposal actually is, and why OPG decided that it was going to change the proposal for the sharing of SMO revenue?


MR. LACIVITA:  During the preparation for the hearing, we found that in certain circumstances the sharing mechanism yielded results not appropriate.  It was never envisioned that the sharing mechanism would yield results where OPG would derive some benefit and the shareholders would be liable.


We found those -- we found those areas and we corrected them.  We propose a minor variation to the methodology, which resulted in a $3.3 million increase to the ratepayers.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Lacivita, thank you for that.  You said "shareholders" a moment ago, and I think you probably meant ratepayers?


MR. LACIVITA:  Ratepayers.


MR. PENNY:  All right, thank you.


Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are all of the questions I have in examination-in-chief.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Penny or Mr. Lacivita, you referred to the G1, tab 1, schedule 3.  This is the revised --


MR. PENNY:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Will -- that document refers to the variance account balance analysis J1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 3.  Will that table be updated, as well, which has the details that lead up to the totals that he said are changed?


MR. PENNY:  We can do that.  In the short term, we just wanted to deal with the key issue, but -- so we haven't yet flowed that through to wherever else it may show up.  But we will definitely update that table to reflect the new numbers.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Warren has asked to go first for this panel.


MR. KAISER:  All right.

Cross-examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger and Panel.  If I could just stay for a moment with the rationale for the update that you provided.


I am looking at the explanation that was provided, and let me quote:

"During preparation for the hearing, it was determined that in certain circumstances the sharing mechanism yielded results that were not appropriate."


What does that mean, "that were not appropriate"?


MR. LACIVITA:  What we mean is that we found situations where the ratepayer was -- where there was a profit being made on the transaction, and yet the ratepayer was not receiving that benefit.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, sir, you can finish your question, but I just wanted to ask you:  How would that arise where there would be a sharing?  Is this a sharing on the 50-50 split?


MR. LACIVITA:  Right.  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  There would be circumstances where the ratepayer would not get its -- their 50 percent of that, is that --


MR. LACIVITA:  Correct.  It arose when the HOEP was lower than the regulated rate.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I wonder if -- this may be consistent with the question that Mr. Rupert asked.  I wonder if, in light of this, you could tell me, for the test years, what is the forecast amount of revenue which will be subject to the splits?  Do you have those numbers in front of you?


MR. LACIVITA:  In the evidence, G1, tab 1, schedule 1, first paragraph on page 9, we have all of the revenues that were generated from SMO transactions.


These are all the revenues of below and above 1,900 and represent the difference between the sales price and HOEP.


However, in Exhibit -- let me just turn that up.  In Exhibit J1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 3, the amounts are included in this table under segregated mode of operation.  That would be line 19.  They represent the amount that is shared below the 1,900-megawatt level.  So there was a difference between these two tables and that is the sharing proportion, during those years.

MR. WARREN:  Now, panel, what I wanted to address is the rationale for the sharing proposal.  In this context, I am going to be referring to a number of Board Staff interrogatories.

As I understand it, the proposal for the 50/50 split is predicated on three considerations.  Correct me if I'm wrong.  The first is that OPG incurs costs in order to generate these revenues; is that correct?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, it is correct.

MR. WARREN:  The second is that OPG incurs risks in attempting to generate these revenues; is that correct?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And the third is that the 50/50 split provides an incentive for OPG to aggressively pursue these revenues; is that right?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Dealing with those seriatim, the costs of it, as I understood the evidence -- and correct me if I am wrong, sir -- that before you do the split, you deduct the cost from the amount to be split.  Is that fair?

MR. LACIVITA:  The transaction costs, that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  So OPG keeps itself whole with respect to the cost before it ever splits the amount; is that right?  It keeps itself whole with respect to the costs, right?

MR. LACIVITA:  With regard to the transaction fees, correct, on a forecasted basis.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. LACIVITA:  It may not turn out that what we forecast to happen actually happens.

MR. WARREN:  There may be more costs than you forecasted; is that right?

MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Up to this point, sir, has it ever been the case that OPG has not been kept whole on the costs before it does the split?

MR. LACIVITA:  In any given hour, it does happen, yes.

MR. WARREN:  But overall, sir, on an annual basis?

MR. LACIVITA:  On an annual basis, no, that is why you see the positive numbers that you see in the tables.

MR. WARREN:  Now, with respect to the issue of risks, sir, if you could turn up Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 68; this is Board Staff interrogatory 68.

MR. LACIVITA:  I have it up.

MR. WARREN:  And the question to you was the rationale for the split or the proposed split.  In the response in the first paragraph, you itemize a number of the risks that you face and they include:

"Market price forecasting, the IESO preventing, recalling or curtailing the transaction, curtailments by other independent system operators, equipment failure and counter-party credit risk."

Can I deal with those again seriatim?

Market price forecasting, have you ever -- I take it from your earlier answers you have been subject to that risk; is that correct?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, we are.

MR. WARREN:  But to this point it has never resulted in a loss.  It has always been a positive share, correct?

MR. LACIVITA:  That is not correct.  It can happen on an hour-by-hour basis.

MR. WARREN:  Fair answer, sir, but on an annual basis?

MR. LACIVITA:  On an annual basis, that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now I am reading the second one:

"-- the IESO preventing, recalling or curtailing of transaction -–"

Has it ever been the case that the IESO has prevented, recalled or curtailed the transaction?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Was that on a one-off basis or on a regular basis?  How frequently does that happen?

MR. LACIVITA:  It would depend on the conditions in the IESO market.  There are times when it happens very frequently, and there are times that it doesn't happen at all.

MR. WARREN:  But overall, it has not prevented you from earning a profit on these transactions over the last several years.  Is that fair?

MR. LACIVITA:  Over the course of the year?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Curtailments by other independent system operators; has that occurred?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, it has.

MR. WARREN:  Again, a frequent occurrence?

MR. LACIVITA:  Again, it depends on the conditions in that market at the time, but overall, we are continuing to make profit.

MR. WARREN:  Finally, the counter-party credit risk; to what extent have you incurred that risk?  Has it ever occurred that there has been a failure by a counter-party?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, there has.

MR. WARREN:  Not prevented you to this point from making a profit, right?

MR. LACIVITA:  That's right.

MR. WARREN:  Now, you were asked the question, sir, for the third of the factors you cited, was incentive.  You would be familiar with the experience in the gas sector where revenues, roughly in this category, are shared on a 90/10 split.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. LACIVITA:  No, I am not.

MR. WARREN:  Will you take it, subject to your checking, that that is the arrangement or has been the arrangement with the gas sector?

MR. LACIVITA:  Okay, subject to check.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in those circumstances, the gas utilities seem to feel that a 10 percent share is sufficient incentive.  Can you tell me why it is that Ontario Hydro -– sorry, OPG, I apologize -- feels it necessary for a 50 percent share, as an inducement to engage in these activities profitably?

MR. LACIVITA:  Well, again, I mean, I would like to bring us back to the evidence on page 9 of Exhibit G1, tab 1, schedule 1.  We have a number of risks including the IESO recall.  But there are also exposure to equipment failure, there is the market risk that we talked about, not assessing the market conditions, the market conditions changing from when the transaction was entered into actually what occurred.

We are held responsible, if we have sold that power in another market and it does get curtailed for whatever reason.  There could be liquidated damages that are paid on that end.  There is a series of risks.

The 50/50 split represents a reasonable balance to OPG, based on the risks and costs that are involved and the benefit to the ratepayer.

MR. WARREN:  So do I take it you feel the incentive is to compensate you for the risks that are involved?  Is that right?

MR. LACIVITA:  The risk plus the rate-of-return –-


MR. WARREN:  It's a pretty high rate of return --

MR. LACIVITA:  -- from engaging in that transaction.

MR. WARREN: 50 percent is a high rate-of-return, is it not?  It's not the ordinary commercial return on these kinds of transactions, is it?

MR. LACIVITA:  That may be the case for the gas industry, which I am not familiar with.  But for these types of transactions, we feel it is a balanced approach.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, sir, and you might just turn it up; it's Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 53.  This is an AMPCO interrogatory, and I apologize to my friend, Mr. Rodger, for using one of his interrogatories, but it takes me to a final question --

MR. LACIVITA:  Could you just wait till I --

MR. WARREN:  Absolutely.

MR. LACIVITA:  L2-53, yes, I've brought it up.

MR. WARREN:  As I read the last line of your response, sir, that if you were to -- please correct me if I have read it incorrectly or interpreted it incorrectly -- do I understand that if you had a -- if the sharing formula were anything other than 50/50, if OPG's share were reduced, you would not engage in these transactions?  Or engage in them less frequently?

MR. LACIVITA:  Less frequently.  We would assess the profit that we could make and we would assess that with the rest of the transactions that we enter into, and we would put our time and effort in the transactions which yields the greatest returns.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Rodger.
Cross-examination by Mr. Rodger:


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Panel, before I talk about and ask you questions about the specific proposals that are before the Board, just for context, I had a high-level discussion with the first panel, first OPG panel about Ontario's hybrid market, this combination of regulated, unregulated activities.

That panel agreed with me that that was also a fair description of OPG.  It was a hybrid of sorts, as well, having regulated revenues and non-regulated revenues.

It seems to me that this particular panel, your panel, illustrates this commingling, if I can call it that, quite well.

On the one hand, you have ancillary services, revenues that are offsetted.  They're netted against the regulated revenues.  And then you have these other, what I call unregulated revenues under the three categories of:  Exports or segregated mode of operations, water transfer and congestion management settlement credits.  Is that fair?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, it is.


MR. RODGER:  By generating both regulated and unregulated revenues, under your area of responsibility, this is an example of the commingling of OPG's regulated costs and unregulated costs; is that fair?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.


MR. RODGER:  Why is that incorrect?


MR. LACIVITA:  It is not a commingling.  The costs of the unregulated side of the business are allocated to any activity they perform for the regulated assets.


MR. RODGER:  So let me pick up that in a few minutes, then.


So just to summarize your evidence, you've got two broad categories of other revenues, the ancillary service revenues, and, just in terms of order of magnitude, I take it from the evidence that is approximately $40 million per year?


MR. LACIVITA:  Is that from the table?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  I believe it is G1, tab 1, 

schedule 1, table 1.


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  Depending on the year, but --


MR. RODGER:  It goes from a 2005 budget of roughly 

$29 million all the way up to a high of $57.9 million in 2006, so around that range.  It fluctuates from almost 40 to, I guess, just under 60?


MR. LACIVITA:  The total of all revenues, yes.


MR. RODGER:  As you have said in the evidence, these revenues, they're offset against your revenue requirement?


MR. LACIVITA:  No, not all of them.  


MR. RODGER:  Not all of them?


MR. LACIVITA:  Just the ancillaries.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  But in other words, the entire amounts that we're seeing on this table here, the 40 million to 60 million?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.  The amounts that you have quoted include the segregated mode of operations and water transfers.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So it is less than these amounts?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  It is just line number 1 on table G1, tab 1, schedule 1.


MR. RODGER:  Right.  So for 2006 actual, 44.1 million?


MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  And then we have these what I call unregulated revenues under three categories:  Your segregated mode of operations or exports, water transfers, and congestion management settlement credits; that's correct?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  As you discussed with my friend, you've got different proposals on how you see the sharing of gains for these unregulated revenues.  So let me first start with the exports and water transfers.


Again, I think you agreed with Mr. Warren that if your hydraulic generation is lower than 1,900 megawatts, then you're proposing this 50/50 net revenue split as between OPG and ratepayers; is that correct?


MR. LACIVITA:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  This is for the exports, the segregated mode of operations?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  Then if your generation is higher than 1,900 megawatts, you are proposing that you keep 100 percent of the net revenues; is that correct?


MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  And I also had a discussion with panel 1 about a topic that arises in most utility cases before this Board when you have this regulated and unregulated parts of the business, and that is preventing cross-subsidization.  


By that, I mean the Board wants to make sure that higher costs aren't imposed on ratepayers, because the revenue requirements needed to satisfy a regulated activity are not artificially inflated because it is unregulated activity incurs -- or gives an unfair advantage to the unregulated side of the business.


 My question for you, sir, is:  When you were coming up with these proposals on sharing these unregulated revenues, how did you take this cross-subsidization issue into account in coming up with the proposals that are currently before the Board and how you share the gains?


MR. LACIVITA:  Are you making reference to the costs that we allocate to this activity?


MR. RODGER:  That's right.  What were the steps you went through to say, This is my starting point, before I talk about any sharing, to ensure that this cross-subsidization issue is isolated and does not become a factor before we get to the profit sharing.


MR. LACIVITA:  Okay.  Well, the sharing mechanism was actually developed and approved by our controllership, and that would be consistent with the Rudden report on cost allocation, and I believe that is in Exhibit F4.  I can't really talk to that, but I can talk to how the allocation was made.  


Is that what you would like to discuss?


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps before we get to that, and I appreciate the Rudden report itself will be dealt with by another panel, but just in terms of how the process unfolded from your point of view, your understanding, did you start by saying, We're going to identify, first, the entire spectrum of costs associated with entering into this -- these unregulated activities?


Was that kind of the step 1 to isolate the incremental costs?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.  No, we didn't start that way.


MR. RODGER:  What was your starting place, then?


MR. LACIVITA:  We have an unregulated activity --


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. LACIVITA:  -- which resides in the area that I am leading, the trading shop, and that takes care of all of the transactions.  It is very difficult to allocate costs based on using the method that you were describing.


What we did was we looked at what was the cost of that group, and we allocated the cost to the unregulated side based on physical transactions.


MR. RODGER:  I see.


MR. LACIVITA:  Percentage of physical transactions.


MR. RODGER:  So if we were to look for a breakdown of discrete incremental costs for each discrete unregulated revenue activity - segregated mode of operations, water transfer, congestion management, settlement credits - we couldn't see three buckets with a total quantum of --


MR. LACIVITA:  That's correct.


MR. ROGER:  -- costs allocated to that particular activity?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  The reason for doing that, you say, it is just too difficult to do?  It would be impractical to do?


MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.  We have the costs of the whole trading function and we allocate that based on the transactions by volume that have occurred.


MR. RODGER:  In your view, it could not be unbundled the way I have suggested?


MR. LACIVITA:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  Are you aware, sir, that other regulated utilities that have the regulated side of their business and unregulated, such as distributors and transmitters, that they have to adhere to an Affiliate Relationships Code?  Are you aware of that regime?


MR. LACIVITA:  No, I am not.


MR. RODGER:  So I guess, then, you have never seen the transfer pricing arrangements that are embedded within that Code that's the mandatory licence condition?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.


MR. RODGER:  You are not aware of those?


MR. LACIVITA:  No, I'm not.


MR. RODGER:  Because the concern that my client has, sir, is for other regulated entities, there is a regime in place that says when a regulated side of the business provides a service to the unregulated side, you have to make sure you get either market-based price or you really do recoup its costs.


So the challenge here is for ratepayers to look at these three areas and say, Well, how can we be sure that the regulated side is achieving its -- the proper amount?


What would your answer be to what ratepayers look to in that context?


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Rodger raised this the other day and we, I think, explained that the question Mr. Rodger has just posed is, in my submission, a question of regulatory policy.  It's a very broad question about the system as a whole, and I think we indicated that Mr. Barrett would be the best person to answer broad questions of regulatory policy.


If Mr. Rodger wants to ask Mr. Lacivita about his group and how those costs are allocated, that, in my submission, is fair game, but the broad policy questions are not for Mr. Lacivita.


MR. RODGER:  All right.  So if we look at the specific proposal for the segregated mode of operations costs, do I take it that your justification for keeping 100 percent of the net revenues really is based on Ontario regulation 53/05 as the price cap applies to the first 1,900 megawatts of capacity in any hour?  Is that the rationale?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  It is consistent with that reg.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, just to step back and talk about the basis for your claim for entitlement of these unregulated net revenues, would you agree with me that, if you like, the fuel that fires these revenues, it is all water from Ontario rivers; is that fair?


MR. LACIVITA:  Are we talking about the same mode of operation?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. LACIVITA:  It is specific to a particular plant, yes, a regular plant, yes.


MR. RODGER:  That is based on water from Ontario rivers?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER:  Would you agree with me if I describe Ontario rivers as a provincial resource?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  It sounds reasonable.


MR. RODGER:  And I think you acknowledged to my friend, Mr. Warren, that your rationale -- part of the rationale in the proposal you are putting forward to the Board is that you really need to be incented to enter into some of these unregulated transactions?


MR. LACIVITA:  That is part, yes.

MR. RODGER:  I didn't quite hear all of your answer to Mr. Warren.  Did you say that your proposals reflect the absolute minimum incentive required by OPG in order to enter into these transactions, that they're the minimum incentive?

MR. LACIVITA:  No, I didn't say that.

I said that in OPG's opinion, that that represented a balance between providing OPG with an incentive and providing a return for the ratepayer.

MR. RODGER:  What would the level of your minimum incentive be?

MR. LACIVITA:  The minimum incentive, it would actually depend on the absolute value of the margin.

MR. RODGER:  So it's not just to recover your costs?

MR. LACIVITA:  It is --

MR. RODGER:  You need that as a first step, presumably.

MR. LACIVITA:  Recovering costs is a component.  It is also to provide OPG with a margin, to manage its risks.

MR. RODGER:  And, again, I wasn't clear from your answer to Mr. Warren.  What is the return that you are looking for as kind of the minimum level to be the appropriate incentive?  It was going to have two components, you're telling us.  It is to recover your costs, and we can't see those costs on a specific regulated program.  It's bundled.

Then after you get that minimum incentive, it is a return added to it.  And those two things equal the incentive to -- 

MR. LACIVITA:  We feel the 50 percent is a fair and reasonable treatment.

MR. RODGER:  And if it is beyond 1,900 megawatts, then it is 100 percent?

MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.

MR. RODGER:  Now, sir, since 2005, how often has OPG operated below the 1,900-megawatt threshold?  Do you have any sense of that?

MR. LACIVITA:  I don't have that information on an hourly basis --

MR. RODGER:  Did you estimate it would be pretty minimal?  That's our assumption, that this doesn't really happen all that often.

MR. LACIVITA:  Like I said, I don't have that information.  I wouldn't hazard a guess.

MR. RODGER:  Is that something you could provide to us by way of undertaking?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, we're just conferring because the view seems to be it is already in the evidence.

If you give us a moment, we might try to turn it up, or we could move on and come back to it in a few minutes.

[Witness penal confers]

So in Exhibit A1, tab 11, schedule 1, appendix A, there is an appendix that sets out the number of hours over 1500 and the number of hours over 1900.

MR. RODGER:  Can I get that reference again, please, Mr. Penny?

MR. PENNY:  Yes.  A1, tab 11, schedule 1, appendix A, page 1.

MR. RODGER:  So just to -- looking at this Appendix A, 2005, we were looking at 6,226 hours.  2006, 6,130 hours.  And 2007 to July 31st, 3,726.

So for the two full years, it's less than a quarter of the time, then, of the entire year that you would be below that level; is that correct?

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger.  I think you were looking at the white page.  But that was updated, and there is a blue page.  I should have -- it's my fault.  I should have said that, it's updated.

MR. RODGER:  So it is just the 2007 figure Mr. Penny that is updated: 5,694?

MR. PENNY:  I that that is the only one that changed, yes.

MR. RODGER:  Is that a good ballpark, approximately only a quarter of the time you would be below the 1,900-megawatt threshold?

MR. LACIVITA:  Subject to check, that seems about the right answer, yes.

MR. RODGER:  Is it not true that as we look ahead, and because of your new hydroelectric payment proposal, isn't it your expectation that the times you expect to be below the 1,900-megawatt threshold in the future will even be fewer than it has been in the past?  Is that fair?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.  The hydroelectric incentive is -- the hydroelectric incentive mechanism that is being proposed will be based on a production determined after the fact.  It would be an hourly, after the fact hourly average.

This is in panel 11, and so it won't necessarily be lower.  In fact, I believe from the evidence that I remember from those two panels, the next two years is projected to be higher.  I don't have the panel 11 evidence in front of me.  That is something we could -- 

MR. RODGER:  So higher than roughly a quarter of the time, on a go-forward basis?

MR. LACIVITA:  On a going forward basis, the level would change, so the after the fact average.

MR. RODGER:  You're expecting in the future, you are expecting that for more of the year, you will be less than the 1,900-megawatt capacity threshold?

MR. LACIVITA:  For more of the year you will be under the average, yes.

MR. RODGER:  Now, with respect to congestion management settlement credits -– again, just to summarize what this is.  Have I got it right when I say that the principle is that if the IESO asks a generator to step outside the economic dispatch because of systems constraints, the congestion management settlement credits are designed to prevent the generator from gaming the system, from making that generator whole, and then for socializing the costs associated with this.  Is that a fair description?

MR. LACIVITA:  Except for the first part about gaming the system.

It is generally to keep the generator whole when they are asked to either constrain off their generation or constrain it on.

MR. RODGER:  Okay.  And for this proposal you are seeking 100 percent of the net revenues from this unregulated activity.  There would be no sharing with ratepayers.  That's your proposal?

MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.  These are not incremental revenues.  These are revenues associated with the inefficient operation of the plant, which generally leads to loss of energy which is not recoverable with our water variance account.

MR. RODGER:  So we're trying to understand the rationale you have given in your evidence for this, and when you boil it down, is it OPG's claim that you are saying that as a company you really receive no benefit from congestion management settlement credits, because all 100 percent of the proceeds are offset by 100 percent of the costs associated with this activity?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.  We're not saying 100 percent.  We're saying, we have in the evidence, it is very difficult to calculate.

Most of the payment relates to inefficient operation, like I mentioned.  And as we provided in the examples that we have listed in interrogatory, and I will give that to you.  That would be L3-96.

MR. RODGER:  Is this the Board Staff, or the CCC interrogatory?

MR. THOMPSON:  Consumers Council.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  But in that answer, my recollection is there isn't actually a breakdown of specific costs.  In other words, here is what it cost to do these transactions.  You gave some categories or buckets where the costs go to, but we don't really have a breakdown anywhere of, once again, what the incremental costs will be GR?

MR. LACIVITA:  These are not transactions per se.  These are not planned.

This activity is the IESO either constraining on or off our generation.  And there are costs associated with those that we have outlined in the evidence and in this interrogatory, which is non-recoverable.

MR. RODGER:  I see.  So what you are not saying in your evidence, then, is that 100 percent of the proceeds from the CMSCs, they get swallowed up by the costs related to this activity.  You're not saying that.  It's not a warranted cost.  It costs a dollar a cost, but we get a dollar back and it's a wash and that is why there is no sharing.  That is not what you're saying here?

MR. LACIVITA:  What we're saying is that this typically results in efficient operation.  We incurred these costs.  We can't quantify them but, by and large, most of the costs are related to this inefficient operation.


MR. RODGER:  If they're not strictly cost-based, cost in, cost out, what is the rationale for shareholders -- or for ratepayers not receiving a benefit from this activity?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, the examples that we have given in this interrogatory, one for constrained-on and one for constrained-off, actually show real examples where energy, the efficiency has been reduced.  That is energy that we plan to run and receive our regulated rate, for which we will not be receiving that regulated rate.


That is a real cost to OPG and one that we cannot recover in our variance account.


MR. RODGER:  Well, let me ask you this way.  Retrospectively, are you able to give us an estimate of what net proceeds accrued to OPG as a result of this activity in the past?


MR. LACIVITA:  It is contained in the evidence.  It's in page 13 of Exhibit G1 -- I'm sorry, page 15 of Exhibit G1, tab 1, schedule 1, top paragraph.  


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So 12.6 million for 2005, 8.5 million for 2006 and 7.7 million for 2007?


MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  So I could think of this as, if you like, the net proceeds that OPG has enjoyed from this CMSC activity?


MR. LACIVITA:  This is the revenues that OPG have received in light of the inefficient operation that we have incurred, yes.


MR. RODGER:  I take it these are gross revenues, or are these net revenues?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, like I said, these are not revenues, per se.  These are the payments that we received from the IESO.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. LACIVITA:  We cannot calculate what the incremental is, because we don't know what our losses are.  These are gross.  This is the gross amount that we would receive from IESO.


MR. RODGER:  Okay, thank you, sir.  Those are my questions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

Cross-examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Ms. Frain, let me start with you just with the few questions that we had of you as a result of your appearance on the last panel.


Now, I did send an e-mail out on Sunday indicating our areas of concern.  Did you get that?


MS. FRAIN:  I have seen that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Why don't we just use that as the point of reference here?  In the e-mail, we indicated that we were having difficulty reconciling the evidence in E1, tab 1, table 1, which showed the Niagara plant group 2006 production at 11.5 terawatt hours.


Just stopping there, have I got that straight?  That is what that table shows?


MS. FRAIN:  That's the number on the table.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the response to AMPCO interrogatory 27, which appeared to us to indicate a theoretical production capability for the Niagara plant group at 14.6 terawatt hours, and it appeared to show 2006 production for that group of 12.2 terawatt hours.


Just stopping there, do I have those numbers correctly quoted from the AMPCO interrogatory response?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes, those are in the interrogatory.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


So can you help us reconcile, then, the 2006 production at 11.5 terawatt hours and the 2006 production shown in the AMPCO response at 12.2 terawatt hours?


MS. FRAIN:  Could I direct you back to the table E1, tab 1, schedule 1?  The line that you read is line 1, 11.5.


The footnote at the bottom regarding the CNP generation, it says it is included in the Niagara plant group total production.  If you look at line 4, the negative 0.7, that combined with the 11.5 will give you the 12.2 that is shown in the interrogatory.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what is the -- for the purposes of testing the reasonableness of your forecasts for the test period, what is the number we should be looking at, the 11.5 or 12.2?


MS. FRAIN:  The 12.2 was the actual generation from the Niagara plant group, but there is the obligation in that year to return 0.7 for the CMP agreement.  So the 11.5 is what OPG is left with.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But looking into 2008 and 2009, should we be testing the reasonableness of what you forecast for that period with the 12.2 actual generation?


MS. FRAIN:  I would note, again, in table 1 that there is an estimation for the CMP.  That is an obligation we have and it is a fixed number.


So the forecast, based on our water forecast, and knowing outages that we have put into our program, the numbers are reflective of what we expect to see in those years.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, is the fixed number that appeared in 2006 a fixed number for 2008 and 2009, as well?


MS. FRAIN:  It's an obligation we have to repay the generation that Canadian Niagara Power, the original company - now Fortis Ontario - are due for their entitlement to water on the river.


You will note that in 2009 it is reduced.  The agreement, the obligation, ends April 30th of that year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Can you help us with the difference between theoretical production capability of 14.6 terawatt hours and the actual?  What accounts for the spread?


MS. FRAIN:  This is due to the limited diversion capacity that we currently have for the Niagara facilities.


We have entitlement to more water than we can currently use.  Part of this will be taken care of with the new Niagara tunnel, as is noted in the bottom of the interrogatory.


MR. THOMPSON:  So are you saying that -- again, looking at the reasonableness of your forecast production for 2008 and 2009, does the 14.6 theoretical production capability have a bearing on testing the reasonableness of your forecast?


MS. FRAIN:  Only if we would be able to divert all of the water to which we are entitled.  Even with the new tunnel, we may not be able to divert everything.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The other item in the e-mail arose out of an exchange you had with Mr. Adams about comparing the American side to the Canadian side.


I believe that appeared at page 12 of the transcript.  Do you recall that?


MS. FRAIN:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  What I took from it was that an acknowledgement from you that all else being equal, the production of the Niagara plant group should exceed that of the power authority on the US side of the river.


Now, just stopping there, is that what you meant when you had that exchange with Mr. Adams?


MR. PENNY:  Well, just a moment, Mr. Chairman.  I think, in fairness, that ought to be, first of all, before the question is put, put in context to what the discussion was.  And I am happy to do that, but I think Mr. Thompson should do that.  


This is a discussion about Ogoki diversion, is I guess my point, and you can only understand this answer in the context of the discussion about Ogoki diversion.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, why don't you help me out, Ms. Frain?


MS. FRAIN:  The discussion was on the Ogoki diversion, where Niagara -- we, OPG, had entitlement to the full amount.  We previously discussed that at St. Lawrence, that water is shared equally.  So at Niagara, all things being equal - equal plants, equal diversion capability - we have an extra amount of water, so our generation should be slightly more.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So my understanding is you have more water than the US side, now; is that correct?

MS. FRAIN:  We have entitlement to more, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the exchange you had with Mr. Adams suggested to me -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- that with more water, you should have higher production than what's going on in the US side.  Is that what you meant when you had that exchange with Mr. Adams?

MS. FRAIN:  All else being equal, that would be true.

However, with the diversion capability being limited on our side, NYPA have much larger diversion capability.  We're not able to realize the same generation or more for that extra water.

MR. THOMPSON:  So, what, the extra water is useless?

MS. FRAIN:  That's where we engage in the water transactions.  The tunnel will take a good part of that water and we will see approximately 1.6 terawatt hours per year more for that generation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, just to close this off, we did refer to a document on the New York Power Authority's website.  I hope you are able to access that, because I am low tech and I couldn't flip it to you on Sunday.  But it showed, if we read it correctly, that the New York Power Authority had 2006 generation of 13.5 terawatt hours, which is two terawatt hours more than OPG for that year.

Are those numbers right, for the New York Power Authority?

MS. FRAIN:  I haven't seen the website recently, but they seem reasonable for their facilities.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you have a comparison of what they generate versus what you generate on a year-by-year basis?  Is it always higher?

MS. FRAIN:  I would expect for many years it would be higher, in that they have greater diversion capability.  Where water might be available to OPG, we're not always able to utilize it because we cannot get it to the Sir Adam Beck facilities.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is the reality, then, that we've got more water, but we can't use it.  So we sell it to the New York Power Authority and get revenue for it and that shows up in the water transactions account.  Is that the big picture?

MS. FRAIN:  We don't sell the water.  We enter into the water transactions whereby we get credit for the energy that they would produce with that water.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But that shows up in the water transactions account?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All that business, if I could use that phrase?

MS. FRAIN:  The transactions that are undertaken do.  As we have indicated in the evidence, they are subjective.  NYPA does not have to take a transaction, so there are times when they will not take what we may offer to them.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But whatever you realize for them shows up in the water transactions' account.  Am I correct?

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well let's, then, with that, let's move on to panel 3 subject matter.

Perhaps if you could just turn up Exhibit J1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2, this is entitled "variance accounts regulated hydroelectric, summary of closing balances 2005-2007."  Are these the balances in the variance accounts that we are talking about on this other revenues panel?

MS. FRAIN:  Can you just confirm the reference again for me, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  I have it as J1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2.

MS. FRAIN:  Yes.  That's a summary of the closing balances.

MR. THOMPSON:  And is that 100 percent of the amount in the accounts, or is that after you have done your sharing allocation?

MS. FRAIN:  This is the OPG amount.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is it 100 percent of the dollars that have been accumulated as a result of the -- 

MS. FRAIN:  Yes, for OPG.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry?

MS. FRAIN:  For OPG.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Who is the other party that has entitlement?

MS. FRAIN:  Where there is a transaction, the rules, if you would call them that, the agreement that we have with NYPA provides for a sharing mechanism.  Some of the proceeds from the transaction are realized by NYPA, as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So this is a total OPG dollars, then.  It is not OPG's share excluding the ratepayers' share.

MS. FRAIN:  It's the total --

MR. THOMPSON:  It's total dollars.  So when you talk about sharing, you are talking about splitting some of the monies in those accounts.

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?

MS. FRAIN:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, so just --

MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Thompson, sorry, I am getting confused.  I apologize for interrupting.  But why would you put money in a variance account that belongs to you?  I would have thought variance accounts would only hold money that would be chargeable to or creditable to customers.

MR. PENNY:  I was going to interject, Mr. Rupert, because I am not sure that the accounting for table 3 of J1, tab 1, schedule 1, is the responsibility of this panel.  If you want to talk about what generates the money that goes into this, these are the people to talk to.  But the actual accounting, we have a panel that will be addressing the deferral accounts, and they have the accounting expertise to explain to you what's in there and how it was calculated.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, Mr. Penny, can you tell me, is this everything, or only part of it?

MR. PENNY:  It is only part of it, in fact.  It is the ratepayers' share.  Mr. Rupert's quite correct.  And 
that --

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that in terms of the ratepayers' share, that's not cast in stone -- is it cast in stone?  Or is it a proposal before this Board that the ratepayers get this amount?

MR. PENNY:  This is clearly a variance account question, Mr. Thompson, in my submission.  So you can ask Mr. Barrett or the other members of the variance account panel that question.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I was trying to get a big picture of the dollars we're talking about, total, and then how much is being proposed to be shared with ratepayers and how much is not being proposed.  

MR. PENNY:  Well, the total is in the evidence sponsored by these witnesses, and you can find that at G1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Well let's, then, just turn that up.  For example, G1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 15, the dollars that relate to the congestion management settlement credits are at page 15, line 1.  If I am reading this correctly, 12.6 million for 2005, 8.5 million for 2006, and 7.7 million for 2007, which is close to $28 million.  Am I right?

MR. LACIVITA:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Your proposal is you keep it all, or OPG's proposal is keep it all.

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, that is correct.  But I would like to emphasize once again that is not incremental revenue.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you say that, but it is certainly revenue, right?

MR. LACIVITA:  Again, I would like to reference the evidence.  It is an offset to lost production and revenue, and increased costs that are not included in the revenue requirement.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is revenue that is an offset to lost production?


MR. LACIVITA:  If I can refer back to the examples that we gave in Exhibit L3-96, the constrained-on and constrained-off activity, when we are directed to do those by the IESO, causes us to operate the units inefficiently.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. LACIVITA:  We waste water.  We had planned to receive a regulated rate for that water.  That's energy that is -- that will not receive that rate, nor is it recoverable in the water variance account.


Also, it leads itself to the possibility of spill, which also is not recovered in the water variance account.


MR. THOMPSON:  So are you telling us your forecasts are built up on the basis of an assumption that you will not be constrained-on or constrained-off, or is that somebody else's responsibility?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.  Our forecast is based on the efficient utilization of the water.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you have nothing in the forecast about constrained-off or -on?


MR. LACIVITA:  That's right.  We have not included constrained-on or -off payments.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you are telling us the forecast, because of that assumption, is 20-something-million too high for this stub period, the interim period.  Is that what you're telling us?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.  Our revenues are lower.  We can't figure how much, because we cannot calculate it in each of those years, based on not producing generation.


The numbers that you see there are the payments that we receive from the IESO.  What is not included are our costs and our revenue which we are not receiving.


MR. THOMPSON:  I thought you told Mr. Rodger that you couldn't point to any specific costs that match up with these dollars.


MR. LACIVITA:  We can't calculate them, that is correct, but they do exist.  They do exist based on -- can I point you to L1, tab 3, 96, where we have given examples of inefficient operation, energy that is actually lost, energy that will not receive the regulated rate, and, again, it is not recoverable in a water variance account.


Those are real costs to OPG, and that generation is included in our rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, am I correct, in your financial statements for the corporation, these revenues will show up in the revenue line, at least the $28 million?


MR. LACIVITA:  I'm sorry, could you repeat your question?


MR. THOMPSON:  In the corporate financial statements, these dollars are going to show up as revenues; am I right?


MR. LACIVITA:  I believe that to be correct, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And can you point to any costs in those financial statements that relate to those revenues?


MR. LACIVITA:  The costs that are incurred are the costs of inefficient operation, not actually generating the megawatts due to lower efficiency of the water that was in the plan.  Those are the costs.  


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the -- is the -- your proposal with respect to the congestion management settlement credits, do you regard the Board as having power in this proceeding to say you can't take it all?  You can only have none of it, or some of it.


Is that a decision-making option that is available to us here?


MR. LACIVITA:  Our proposal calls for OPG to retain those revenues, because we feel that they are due to inefficient operation and increased costs, and the Board has discretion to do whatever.


MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct there is nothing in the regulations that says you can keep this money?


MR. PENNY:  Well, Mr. Thompson, that's a legal question.  It calls for interpretation of statute.  In my submission, our position is, in fact, if you want to know it as a matter of law, that the Board does not have jurisdiction over these revenues, because they took place during the interim period.  


But we're offering this up as a question of fairness, but -- so that's our legal position.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, fine.  Let's move on from that item to the segregated mode dollars.


This has been canvassed by others, but if I read the evidence correctly, you modified the treatment for this item, from what you had initially proposed to what is now the modified treatment proposal.  Have I got that straight?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  We modified it slightly, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And this ties in with what -- as I understand it, what is described as the -- I think it's the payment incentive structure.  Have I got that straight?


MR. LACIVITA:  This is consistent with the incentive payment structure, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Was that the reason it was changed, that you did some runs that -- applying the incentive payment structure, that, again, is not your subject matter area, and you found some glitches?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, no.  The reason that it was changed is, as I mentioned earlier, in preparation for this hearing, we found that in certain circumstances the sharing mechanism yielded inappropriate results.


It was inappropriate for OPG -- at times when there was a transaction, where OPG would be receiving a benefit and the ratepayer would have a liability.  That was inappropriate.


We found those circumstances when this happened and we corrected it, and it resulted in a $3.3 million increase to the ratepayer.


MR. THOMPSON:  So, directionally, ratepayers are better off with your modification?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the mechanics here, am I correct that for congestion management settlement credits -- well, let me back up.  What's embedded in currently approved revenue requirement that the government established, I guess, with respect to these revenues?  Is there anything embedded in there?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, when you say "these revenues", Mr. Thompson, could you clarify?  Are you talking about all of the three categories or just one of them?


MR. THOMPSON:  I am talking about all three categories.


MR. LACIVITA:  They are not included in the revenue requirement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's the current revenue requirement, and then in your proposed, as I understand it, you are proposing to embed nothing, like zero, and just accumulate these dollars in variance accounts.  Is that the proposal?


MR. LACIVITA:  That, along with the sharing mechanism that is handled via the variance account, that is correct.  They're very difficult to forecast.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's your rationale for this proposal, is it?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  In other words, embedding nothing in rates and having a deferral account to capture whatever goes in is based on the proposition we can't estimate them?


MR. LACIVITA:  Right.  They are based on hourly market mechanisms which we are unable to forecast, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, just with respect to the ancillary services, there is a table in the evidence.  It's at G1, tab 1, schedule 1.


We see ancillary services here on a year-by-year basis, if I am reading this correctly.  Am I reading it correctly?


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, you're at G1, tab 1, schedule 1 --


MR. THOMPSON:  Table 1.


MR. PENNY:  Table 1, thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Table 1, line 1?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, go ahead.  I pulled it up.  What is your question?

MR. THOMPSON:  This is presented on a year-by-year basis but not a test-period basis, I guess was what I was getting at.

So my question was:  How much is in the ancillary services line for the test period, which is 21 months rather than 24?

MR. LACIVITA:  I don't have that breakdown.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is it somewhere in the record?

MR. PENNY:  Well, everything is up on an annualized basis.  The translation into the years is in the payment amounts evidence, which, again, is Exhibit K, which will be dealt with by a separate panel.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I can find that out from another panel, Mr. Penny?  Is that what you're saying?

MR. PENNY:  Sorry.  Find out what?

MR. THOMPSON:  How much is in the test period for ancillary services.

MR. PENNY:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And looking at this table, though, the 2006 actual was 44.1 million.  Then the 2007 budget, quite significantly less.  2007 actual, about four million more than budget.  Then your 2008 plan is considerably below what you achieved in actual, as is the 2009.

So just looking at the reasonableness of the forecast, what is the explanation for having these numbers lower than the 2007 actual?

MR. LACIVITA:  Well, for 2008, we predict that there is going to be a reduction in operating reserve that's going to be required by the IESO, by about 15 percent.

Also, there's going to be a reduction in AGC that's contracted.  we feel that that, the current contract in 2007 of 100 megawatts, which has already been reduced from previous years, will go down further to approximately 85 megawatts.  

That's what we believe is going to happen and hence, that's our forecast.  It's based on our actual that we have seen happened over the past, plus some adjustments.

MR. THOMPSON:  What is the amount for ancillary services that is embedded in what I call the current revenue requirement?  Do you know?

MR. LACIVITA:  We have a table.  There is an interrogatory that has asked that, and let me just pull that up.  Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 69.  We have provided that evidence showing the breakdown of all of the ancillary revenues of historical and forecast for 2009 and 2008.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  So does this tell me what is embedded in the current revenue requirement, the one that you are seeking to increase by a billion dollars and some change?  This looks to me like it's similar to the table we were just discussing.

MR. LACIVITA:  Well, I believe our forecast is included in the revenue requirement, and then any difference is subject to the variance account.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I won't dwell on it.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Stephenson.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Nothing for me on this panel.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye.
Cross-examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I just have a few questions to elaborate on some of the things that have been asked by other intervenors here.

I asked on Friday about the interconnection with Quebec that was used for the segregated mode of operation of the Saunders plant.  And they referred those questions about the physical connection to this panel.

Can you describe the connection that is available from the Saunders to Quebec?

MR. LACIVITA:  This is going out from Ontario to Quebec?

MR. FAYE:  Well, I understood there was a transmission line that connected the Saunders' plant to Quebec directly when it was on segregated mode of operation.

MR. LACIVITA:  It is not exactly like that.

There is a transformer station St. Lawrence.  Saunders generation is connected to the transformer station located at St. Lawrence, and it's at that point where there is a line that goes into the province of Quebec, which can be -- there are switches where that output of some of the Saunders generation can be radially be put onto the Quebec system.

MR. FAYE:  So that would be one of the existing recognized interties with Quebec?

MR. LACIVITA:  It is -- yes, it is a point of interconnection.

MR. FAYE:  It is part of the transmission system owned by Hydro One, for instance?

MR. LACIVITA:  I believe that they own -- I believe that.  I am not sure who owns it.  I believe it is Hydro One's, Hydro One and Quebec.

MR. FAYE:  So under segregated mode of operation, OPG is using the Ontario transmission system to get this energy over to Quebec?

MR. LACIVITA:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is that a synchronized connection?  Or do you have to actually disconnect the Saunders plant from the grid and then reconnect by synchronizing Quebec's system?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  We have to disconnect in order to connect.

MR. FAYE:  In one of your exhibits, G1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, that's been referred to here numerous times this afternoon, note 3 to that table, do you have that?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  This note talks about the costs associated with segregated mode of operation.  And you, I think, answered one of Mr. Warren's questions that the net revenue that was proposed for division with the ratepayer excluded the transaction costs.

Do I understand the transaction costs to be the costs of your non-regulated business unit to actually effect the transaction?

MR. LACIVITA:  Well, the transaction costs are not the costs of the regulated business.  Those are the other costs.

The incremental costs are what I was referring to, and that would include the transmission charge that you have for the use of that line out of Quebec -- into Quebec.

MR. FAYE:  And in this note it mentions variable costs, as well.

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.  

MR. FAYE:  I take those to be variable operating, maintenance and administration costs?

MR. LACIVITA:  No, no.  Those are variable costs for the transactions.

MR. FAYE:  For the transactions?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Are there variable maintenance and operations costs associated with running those units longer than 1,900 megawatt hours in any given hour?

MR. LACIVITA:  Not that I am aware of, but I am not the right person to talk to.  You need a --

I don't know.

MR. FAYE:  Would you know of anything in the evidence that correlates the length of time a unit is operated in a year with the maintenance and operation costs associated with that?

MR. LACIVITA:  Relating to seg mode of operation, of just --

MR. FAYE:  Just relating to -- do your maintenance costs increase if you run the unit longer?

MR. LACIVITA:  That would seem reasonable, but I can't speak to that.

MR. FAYE:  Then if it would seem reasonable, is it fair to say that all of your maintenance costs are proposed in the application, has an offset to your projected revenue?

MR. LACIVITA:  Sorry, could you please repeat that question?

MR. FAYE:  All of the costs of maintaining the Saunders plant are in this application as costs; correct?

MR. LACIVITA:  In terms of the other revenues?

MR. FAYE:  No.  I'm simply saying, if it sounds reasonable that additional maintenance costs would be incurred if you run the unit longer than 1,900 megawatts in any given hour, are those extra maintenance costs in the application?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, the maintenance costs that are in the application would pertain to the entire forecast, regardless if it's Ontario or segregated to Quebec.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.  That's what I thought.


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  So I would like to ask you, then, if the ratepayer is paying all of those maintenance costs -- correct?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And if you now run the Saunders unit another marginal amount, another hour of Saunders generation beyond the 1,900, it gets exported and you recover all of the money, all of the net money?


MR. LACIVITA:  No, because the -- what goes into the forecast is the plant running all of the available water, regardless of where the power ends up, whether in Ontario or out of Ontario.


So it is recovered as part of the regulated rate.  So you're not running it anymore, because you're in seg mode of operation.  You're running it the same.


MR. FAYE:  So your forecast is built up for the amount of water that you expect to have and not the 1,900 megawatts in any given hour, times the number of days and hours?  Have I misunderstood how that forecast is developed?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. FRAIN:  The forecast is based on the water availability.


MR. FAYE:  Is the 1,900 based on water availability, as well?  Is that where that comes from originally?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.  The 1,900, the derivation of that is included in panel 11.  It is a number that looks at the off-peak power.  It is the average off-peak power over a -- over the last three years and that comes out to 1,900.  It was a number that was established by the province.


MR. FAYE:  Let me ask you this as a summary question, then.


If all of the maintenance costs are paid by the ratepayer, would it not seem reasonable to share with the ratepayer any marginal revenue that you manage to generate by using those plants more?


MR. LACIVITA:  We're not using the plant anymore.


MR. FAYE:  More than 1,900 megawatts in any given hour?


MR. LACIVITA:  There is an incentive mechanism to -- in reg. 53/05 to incent OPG to move production from the off-peak periods onto the on-peak periods, and this has a benefit to the ratepayer in making more energy capacity available on peak when it is most required.  That was the purpose of that incentive mechanism and that's why the province, along with information that we have provided to them, set that level at that line.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  You have answered my question.  I will move on.


Again, in that same exhibit - that's G1, tab 1, schedule 1 - on page 6 at line 13, there is some discussion there about a prospective benefit to ratepayers by exporting power under segregated mode of operation, and then re-importing it at peak times.


My impression of your exports was that once you sold the power, it is sold.  It belongs to someone else, or am I wrong?  Do you retain some ability to recover that power sometime later?


MR. LACIVITA:  You are correct.  Once a sale has been made, it has been made.  It is not linked.  

We do not link it to the return of power during the on-peak period.


What we meant to say here was that this water can be stored in reservoirs in other jurisdictions.  That makes more on-peak energy available in the whole northeast market.  Having more on-peak energy available in the whole northeast market is beneficial to OPG, because power will migrate from the lower-cost markets to the higher-cost markets, and, therefore, you would have more on-peak energy available, if it is economic, if the Ontario economics dictates that.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if I understand that correctly, the energy that you sell gets used to pump water up into a reservoir somewhere else, in New York or Quebec or wherever, and then when the peak period of the day arrives, that owner of that energy or that water can then put it back through turbines, make electricity and sell it to the highest bidder.


If Ontario is the highest bidder, then it would be able to re-import that power?


MR. LACIVITA:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  How does that -- if they're paying the market price, the spot market price for it, which is the highest price anyone will pay in an hour, how does that benefit the Ontario ratepayer?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, you are providing power which would otherwise not have been available.


MR. FAYE:  From any source?


MR. LACIVITA:  Right.  You are making additional generation available and, by that means, it would be more competitive and it would -- first of all, it would be there.  Second of all, the price would be more competitive, if Ontario is economic.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, I understand your argument.


My last question is to do with congestion management, and this seemed to apply largely to the Niagara plant.  Could you just describe under what conditions congestion occurs so that you do get these congestion management charges that are constrained-off?


MR. LACIVITA:  Okay.  Well, there are two mechanisms that exist.  The IESO could either constrain a unit on, a unit that was not selected to run during their initial run -- they have a two-pass system.  

The first -- they have a -- they have an algorithm which determines price and dispatch, and the first path -- the first path, the first path of this algorithm, does not consider any constraints.  So it runs and price is determined. 


They then run that same algorithm a second time with all of the transmission constraints and all of the unit ramping and the like in, and they come up with an actual dispatch.


The difference between the first run and the second run would give rise to constrained CSMC payments and actions.  Units that had made the first path would -- could either be constrained-off and they would receive a constrained-off payment.  

There are some units that were not selected to run, because they were priced too high.  They could be constrained-on to run, because it's required by the system.


So that's how it works.  It is not an action that OPG takes.  It is strictly determined by the IESO.


MR. FAYE:  It sounds to me like some of the determination is the transmission path between the Beck plant and the market it's going to.  Would that be fair?


MR. LACIVITA:  Those are two mutually exclusive events.  CSMC payments has to do with generation of Ontario.


What you are -- segregated mode of operation to Quebec has nothing to do with constrained-off payments.


MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry, I didn't mean to imply we were now talking about the Saunders things again.  I am just asking, the transmission path from Beck to, say, Toronto, if that's where the energy is going, it is congestion along those transmission paths that are contributing to this constrained-off condition?


MR. LACIVITA:  What's contributing is that the -- it's a difference in the -- it's the algorithm that the IESO utilizes.  The first one does not consider any constraints, unit ramping.  It considers all units are available all the time.  There are no transmission constraints moving power from A to B.  It's a theoretical type of dispatch.  And, from that, they get the price.


The second path incorporates all those constraints and it becomes the real dispatch.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, if we take those one at a time so I understand them, if OPG says a unit is down then, it can't be constrained-off.  It is just off; right?  It is not available to be bid into the stack.  So that one doesn't count; is that right?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, OPG offers all its available units in all of the time.  We must do so under our generating -- our licence.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  What I'm saying is that if the unit is physically unavailable, is it still offered into the stack?


MR. LACIVITA:  No.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.


MR. LACIVITA:  No.


MR. FAYE:  So you can't be constrained-off because of unit unavailability.  It is only because your unit is available, you want to produce power, but some other condition --

MR. LACIVITA:  Prevents you from doing it.

MR. FAYE:  -- is preventing it.  And those conditions could be price?  Did I hear you say the price could be too high?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.

MR. FAYE:  No?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.

MR. FAYE:  Because it is regulated right up to 1,900?

MR. LACIVITA:  If we are talking about being constrained-off, the generation would have made it through the first pass.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. LACIVITA:  For transmission reasons or other reasons determined by the IESO, that generator cannot run, even though it is more economical to do so.

MR. FAYE:  I think I am back to, then, the reasons why the IESO would constrain you off have to do with transmission constraints.

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Other things like voltage support required from other plants in parts the network; there is those kinds of considerations?

MR. LACIVITA:  Right.  And we have listed those in the evidence, page 14 of G1-1, schedule 1, "major causes" beginning at line 13.

MR. FAYE:  I will just ask you one or two more quick questions about it, then.

Is the presence of Nanticoke a contributing factor to congestion that affects the Beck plant?  I.e., if Nanticoke is shut down, do a lot of your congestion constraints disappear?

MR. LACIVITA:  I don't know.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think that is all of my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

Ms. Campbell.
Cross-examination by Ms. Campbell:


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

I would like to clarify something that is in the evidence.  It's G1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 8.

In the evidence you gave, you talked about a modification, and I believe the modification is -- starts at page 6:  "OPG will share".


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Do you see that sentence that says:
"OPG will share with ratepayers on a 50/50 basis the net revenues from HOEP --"

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  "-- to the transaction sale price for 
the SMO volume at or below 1,900 megawatts."

If I go to the next page, page 9, and I take my eye down and I start over on line 25, there appears to be a bit of a conflict between the two sentences.  The second sentence reads:
"The main difference for SMO transactions is to the fixed threshold volume of 1,900 megawatt hours, which will be replaced by an hourly volume that is equal to the actual hourly average net energy production over a month."

MR. LACIVITA:  What we're referring to here is a new incentive -- hydroelectric incentive mechanism that we are proposing, and that would be in panel 11.  But currently OPG receives HOEP for all production coming from the regulated hydroelectric assets above the 1,900-megawatt level in any given hour.

What we are saying here, under our proposal, that would be replaced and that would be replaced by the after-the-fact hourly average.  That's what we are saying there.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So that applies to the SMOs?

MR. LACIVITA:  The SMOs, water transfers, yes.

MS. CAMPBELL:  So that would be the same explanation when it is repeated in the water transaction section between pages 10 to 13?

MR. LACIVITA:  Right.

MS. CAMPBELL:  It is the same?

MR. LACIVITA:  The change that we talked about earlier, that Mr. Penny had mentioned, we're really not talking about the 1,900.  That is another issue.

What we are talking about there was the way it was allocated, the way the profits were allocated under certain conditions, which were not appropriate.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  I would just like to confirm that any questions that have to do with cost allocation, that go beyond -– sorry, any questions with regard to cost allocation are to be reserved for the corporate panel.  Is that correct, Mr. Penny?

MR. PENNY:  I think it depends on what you mean.

Mr. Lacivita has already explained if you wanted to ask him more questions about it, you should ask him about how the trading group is dealt with.  I think what he said was that no costs are under the corporate -- under the overall corporate, no costs of the trading group are allocated to the regulated facilities at all.

Then in the context of specific transactions, there are then some costs allocated on a transaction-by-transaction basis.  Mr. Lacivita is in a position to answer questions about that, but if you have broader questions about the allocation of central costs, those are for the corporate panel.  But I think Mr. Lacivita has indicated, and I think the corporate panel's evidence is that leaving aside the specific transactions, that no trading operation costs are allocated to regulated facilities at all.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Chute has some questions that arise from the evidence that was given, and rather than having him whisper them to me, I just thought I would have him ask them directly.

MR. CHUTE:  Yes, I have a couple of questions about some of the issues that arose today, as well as some of the answers to the interrogatories.

In particular, I believe Mr. Faye was asking questions about constrained-off payments and the possibility of when those occur.

Do you recall any instances when a unit has been constrained-off by the IESO and then participated in a water transaction or an SMO transaction at the same time it was constrained-off?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.  No.  No, I can't say that I am aware of those.

MR. CHUTE:  Would that not be an opportunity to engage in those transactions?

MR. LACIVITA:  In a segregated mode of operation?

MR. CHUTE:  Yes.

MR. LACIVITA:  No.  Segregated mode of operations are done in advance, and they are a response to market signals.  Constrained-off payments, constrained-on or constrained-off, are determined by the IESO two hours in advance, based on the two runs that I mentioned earlier; the constrained and the unconstrained, and the constrained dispatch.

So SMO transactions have already been determined.  We need to apply in advance to the IESO to take those units out of service, you have outage slips to permit them to be radially fed into Quebec.

MR. CHUTE:  Okay.  So the answer is that you don't recall at any time that that has occurred?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.

MR. CHUTE:  Okay, thank you.

Now, with regard to Exhibit L1, 105, Board Staff interrogatory 105, in the response to the interrogatory, you mentioned the economic drivers for SMO transactions.

Then there is "additional criteria", which is the last sentence, line 25-26 in the response.  Could you elaborate on when those criteria come into effect, excess base load generation management in the minimization of spill, and are these equal to the economic criteria, or secondary?

MR. LACIVITA:  It is another criteria, which is independent of the economics.

There are times when Ontario may be in a light load situation and it would make sense to take some of the generation at Saunders via segregated mode out of the province, to prevent spill and to prevent -- we have also mentioned it.  Let me just find it on the -- it is also listed here in the evidence on page 6, on G1-1, where it helps to mitigate the possibility of a nuclear unit shutting down or manoeuvring and maybe tripping off line.

So it has other benefits to the ratepayer during light load situations in Ontario.

MR. CHUTE:  How far ahead of time would you know about those light load situations?


MR. LACIVITA:  Those are typically known anywhere from, you know, five to eight hours in advance it starts to become...


MR. CHUTE:  So that's the window for an SMO?


MR. LACIVITA:  No, no.  The SMO, typically we do day ahead, because we sell to others.  It involves either moving power to markets or selling it to others.  But we can do a SMO closer in, hours before.


MR. CHUTE:  Okay, one other question.  Would you characterize these additional criteria, the excess base load generation management and the minimization of spill, as the kinds of situations where you are looking to maximize the efficiency of OPG's units?


MR. LACIVITA:  In those situations, the OPG is more trying to assist the IESO and trying to help them manage light load situations.


Whether those instances result in efficiencies from the hydroelectric assets, I am not sure.  I am not sure.  I can't speak to that.


MR. CHUTE:  Does OPG need an incentive to do this?


MR. LACIVITA:  To do what?


MR. CHUTE:  To assist the IESO in the management of the system or to operate the units in an efficient manner.


MR. LACIVITA:  To the extent it could be OPG's water coming from the regulated assets that could be spilled, and OPG is able to take this generation and sell it out of province, that is beneficial to both OPG and the ratepayer.


MR. CHUTE:  Okay, thank you.  No further questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Questions from the Board:


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Lacivita, you already said you will here at the last panel of the hearing on the payment methodology for hydro, so some of my questions on this may be -- we'll say maybe should be better left to that stage, I guess, but I will start into them now, anyway.


I am trying to get to grips with how much -- by the way, I take Mr. Penny's point about the 2005, 2006 and 2007 periods being prior to us, but I will ask these questions, because I want to understand what you are proposing to do as a way to help me figure out what you might want to do in the future.


What is the total revenue from the SMO transactions?  The reason I ask the question is it may be somewhere in the evidence and I have missed it, but the table 1 of 

Exhibit G, tab 1, schedule 1 has some numbers.  But as Mr. Faye has pointed out, footnote 3 says those are revenues net -- gross revenues less HOEP, incremental variable costs and costs associated with the non-regulated business.


Then there are some different numbers in tab -- Exhibit J, tab 1 on the variance accounts, which you don't have to turn to.


My question is:  Could we get, for the 2005, 2006 and 2007 years, a more conventional looking P&L for the top part of this business, which is the total revenues from segregated mode of operations per year contract with the counterparty, whoever that may be, Hydro-Québec or somebody in New England; another line showing these incremental -- another line showing HOEP, that the dollar amounts for HOEP you have taken off here; another line showing these incremental costs, just so I could understand the magnitude of the activity, which is bigger, I think, than -- you know, in terms of dollars than table 1 indicates, because table 1 is after these deductions.


Is that in the evidence now or something we could get?


MR. LACIVITA:  Well, table 1 tells you what the net revenues are.


MR. RUPERT:  I am looking for the gross revenues.  I am looking for schedules that says top line, gross revenue; next line, less deduction for HOEP; next line, less deduction for the incremental variable costs; next line, less costs associated with non-regulated business.  


Those deductions you have referenced in footnote 3, I am looking for a schedule that blows that up for each of the three years.


MR. LACIVITA:  We did provide some of that during the technical conference, where we provided the costs that were associated.


MR. RUPERT:  Is there a reference for that?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes, KT1.9.  In that reference, we provided what our costs were, fixed costs and variable costs, combined with the evidence that we gave --


MR. RUPERT:  Those will take me down to the figures that you have in table 1 of G1, tab 1, schedule 1?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, thanks.


On the CMSC payments, you have referenced the costs associated with that, and the proposal is that there is no forecast of any amounts included in the 2008 or 2009 test periods; right?


MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  So let me understand, first of all, in terms of, say, a constrained-on payment.


My understanding - this may be wrong - is that you get constrained-on because, as you point out, in the first run of the IESO's algorithm, your price was too high and you weren't otherwise -- the schedule.  Now, for some reason, there is a constraint and they have to say to you, We need you to run; right?


MR. LACIVITA:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. RUPERT:  My understanding is that you will get compensated the full amount of your bid price that you had in the market.  By virtue of being constrained-on, the IESO is obligated to pay you your bid price -- excuse me, your offer price.


MR. LACIVITA:  That's correct.  The difference between offer price and --


MR. RUPERT:  I am trying to understand why, if you offered that price, $80 a megawatt hour, and you ran in the normal course, that gets treated one way, but if you offered $80 an hour and ran because you are constrained-on, somehow the revenue seems to be treated differently here.  


I am not sure I understand why, in one case, it is treated as a normal, routine transaction, which presumably gets taken care of in your methodology for hydro payments, and then in the other case of the revenues, the incremental revenue is completely ignored, I guess.


MR. LACIVITA:  You are correct.  We are held whole the difference between our offer price and the market price.


But we -- it's not always greater.  It is not equal to the regulated rate.  There are times when we aren't 

whole -- held whole to the regulated rate.


MR. RUPERT:  But the regulated rate is not really relevant, is it, for purposes of this calculation?  I am trying to understand how the regulated price bears on an hourly dispatch issue and --


MR. LACIVITA:  The loss that OPG is incurring in your example there is operating off efficiency.


When you operate off efficiency, you are losing megawatts.  You are not generating the megawatts that you need to be generating with that water.


MR. RUPERT:  If you were -- as you said, you are obligated, I guess, to offer in all of your units that are available to run.  

If you put an offer price in and said, We're prepared to operate at X dollars a megawatt hour, you seem to be saying that the way you get to run, whether you get run in the normal course of the market or you run because you are constrained-on, that somehow there is fundamentally different efficiencies involved there.  


I am struggling with how they could be.  In both cases you are running.  One case you are running because you're scheduled in your dispatch.  The next case you are running because you have been told to run and you wouldn't otherwise be in the first run.  There seems to be a little difference in efficiency that I can't get a grasp of.


MR. LACIVITA:  Hydroelectric units are dispatched to best efficiency to make the best use of the water available, and they're offered in the market as such.


There is room to offer up to maximum capacity of the unit.  However, your efficiency goes down and you lose energy.


We are required to offer that.  Our generating licence requires us to offer the full capacity of those units into the marketplace, and we do so.  But when that happens -- and we do so.  But when that happens, as I mentioned earlier, we lose energy.


MR. RUPERT:  You don't incorporate that in your offer price?  If you've got offers leading all the way up to the full nameplate capacity of the facility, knowing that, as you say, at the top end you might end up very -- you don't build it into your offer price, then, to recognize that you might be told to run?


MR. LACIVITA:  In some cases we do, but there are other cases where we get constrained-off, but we plan to run that water, and then we are -- if you are constrained-off, then that water gets rejected.  It could be spilled.  And you go down the efficiency curve, and, in that case, you incur efficiency losses, again, and there is no way of knowing when that can happen.


We don't have a way of predicting when the IESO is going to constrain us on and off.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Well, I will leave that for now.

Is there somewhere in the evidence as well -- maybe you could direct me to this -- where it indicates how many hours and for which facilities prescribed assets have been constrained-on or constrained-off, and how much production is involved.


MR. LACIVITA:  No, we don't have that in the evidence, because we can't calculate after the fact what those losses would be.

MR. RUPERT:  No.  I am just thinking about the number of hours, and either in the case of constrained-on, how many megawatt hours you were producing under a constrained-on environment, or constrained-off, how many megawatt hours you were otherwise scheduled to produce that you were constrained-off for.

MR. LACIVITA:  It's not in the evidence and I'm not sure --

MR. RUPERT:  That's something you don't keep?  You don't have that kind of information hanging around the shop?

MR. LACIVITA:  I am not sure how long it would take to get that.

MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  On page 6 of G1, tab 1, schedule 1, are the three benefits that you have listed for Ontario from the segregated mode of operation.

If I heard earlier, it sounded like you are saying that if the sharing mechanism were different, less favourable to OPG, that, well, you wouldn't give up on the SMO; you might operate less in that fashion.

So I want to go through each of the benefits and understand what they mean.  

The first one is managing excess base load generation, which I understand.  But as a large owner of nuclear plants, presumably you wouldn't need an incentive to do SMO if the option was:  We'll do a segregated mode of operation transaction or we will have Pickering go down, a few units at Pickering.  You presumably wouldn't do that.  You wouldn't need an incentive to do that transaction, I assume?

MR. LACIVITA:  You are right.  I was referring to the economic addition.

MR. RUPERT:  Economic, right.

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. RUPERT:  Again on spilling water from an approved environmental state, I assume as well that is not one that you needed a particularly big incentive to run your facilities in that kind of manner?

MR. LACIVITA:  Yes.

MR. RUPERT:  The third one is this potential benefit Mr. Faye was talking about.  I am just kinds of struggling with how we're supposed to deal with this benefit.  It sounds like this goes well beyond the company.  This goes well beyond sort of a normal commercial company.  This is somehow saying:  We're doing things for the goods of the province.

I am just wondering why that is a factor in an economic transaction.

MR. LACIVITA:  Well, it's the economic benefit of doing that, of the revenue that is generated, that's listed on page 9.

MR. RUPERT:  You're not saying that the benefit that presumably comes from number 3 is of a equivalent magnitude to the revenue that you earned on the standard mode of operation -- segregated mode of operation?

MR. LACIVITA:  No.  What we're saying there is, those are the benefits that would accrue to the ratepayer.

MR. RUPERT:  But you have no way of quantifying that?

MR. LACIVITA:  You're right, yes.

MR. RUPERT:  I will come back to the rest when you come to the last panel, because I think part of this depends on the interplay of these operations and the hydro payment mechanism, incentive mechanism, which is something we don't want to get into now.  So I will leave it there.  Thanks.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Rupert, there was a discussion back and forth between you and the witness, and you were discussing about megawatt hours, constrained-off, constrained-on.  He said he didn't know how long it would take, I believe, for the company to provide that information.  Then you moved on.  

I wasn't clear whether you decided not to ask for an undertaking, or forgot to ask for one.  So I raise it with you.

MR. RUPERT:  Is that something that could be done, with not, you know, Herculean effort?  But is that something the company has available?

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Rupert, I actually leaned over to Mr. Barrett when you asked that and said we should see what we can do about that, and we will.


If for some reason it turns out to be unreasonable, we will come and report on that, but otherwise we will do our best to get that information.

MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.

MR. BATTISTA:  Just so the record is clear, we should give that an undertaking.  I would suggest we give that an undertaking --

MR. PENNY:  That would be fine. 

MR. BATTISTA:  -- and the response back could be:  It's a lot of work or provide the information.

MR. PENNY:  That would be fine.

MR. BATTISTA:  That would be undertaking number J 3.1.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  To Provide, if possible, congestion-on/-off history.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, any re-examination of this panel?

MR. PENNY:  Just with your indulgence, Mr. Chair...  No.  No re-examination.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Thank you, panel.

What is next, Ms. Campbell?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Today or tomorrow?

MR. KAISER:  Today.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Today, I believe we have finished 
panel 3.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  And tomorrow?

MS. CAMPBELL:  We are going to start panel 4 tomorrow, and I believe an e-mail went to everybody indicating that the issues of confidentiality will be argued tomorrow morning.

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, just let me back up for a moment.  I am not sure why we're not starting with panel 4.  We have them here.  They're ready to go.

MR. KAISER:  The confidential motion --

MS. CAMPBELL:  We could argue that now, then.

MR. KAISER:  Well, can we?  We gave notice to --

MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, we can start panel 4.  I was unaware that panel 4 was sitting here.

MR. KAISER:  Did we give notice to people in this e-mail that that would be argued tomorrow morning?

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, we did.

MR. KAISER:  All right, so we better stick with that.

Do we have to deal with that in order to deal with panel 4?

MS. CAMPBELL:  There might be certain questions that arise.  Answers to undertakings, I believe, on fuel relate to confidentiality.

MR. PENNY:  Can I just clarify on that, as well?  Sorry to be jumping around.

I have not received any notice of any objections to the confidential treatment of this.  Am I missing something, Ms. Campbell?

MS. CAMPBELL:  No.  But there was a due date for written submissions, which is the end of today.  And the end of it -– sorry, any filings would have to be at the end of today.

MR. PENNY:  So are we talking about --

MS. CAMPBELL:  Sorry, tomorrow is the due date, Mr. Battista reminds me.

MR. PENNY:  Are we talking about argument of this motion in the event that there are submissions, or –-


MS. CAMPBELL:  If it is necessary.

MR. PENNY:  All right.  Thank you.

So my proposal, Mr. Chairman, is that we take the afternoon break, and bring our nuclear projects panel on.  Sorry, base OM&A.  Sorry.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger, are you ready to proceed today?

MR. RODGER:  Not this afternoon, sir.  We were hoping that we could start our cross-examination tomorrow.  The reason being is, with last week, another overlapping hearing, the IPSP and the interrogatories were due on Wednesday evening.  So that has frankly put us back a bit, so we won't be in a position until tomorrow morning to start our cross.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm in a similar position, Mr. Chairman.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I am ready to go, but I don't have any questions for them.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Stephenson.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am ready to go.  I am probably 20 minutes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, we were anticipating this panel would be for tomorrow and Mr. Rubin will be joining me to do cross, so we are not prepared to do it.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Campbell.

MS. CAMPBELL:  I have been provided with materials.  I could ask some questions.  But I don't know, actually, for how long because I have just been provided with them.  On this end, we're facing a similar problem.  We anticipated the questions would start tomorrow.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this, Mr. Penny?  Let's take the afternoon break as you suggest.  Let's do the direct, if there is any, and we will proceed with you, Mr. Stephenson, and see how far we get.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

--- Recess taken at 3:00 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 3:32 p.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Penny.


MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Over the break, things got a little warm in the room, so we asked Mr. Battista if he could cause the blinds to be put down.  I hope that helps.


I should say, as I did the other day, just so it is on the record, that we have provided answers to undertakings J2.2 and J2.5, and there are hard copies for those in the room and we will be sending those out to other intervenors.


So we are now proceeding with the nuclear base OM&A and fuels panel, and we have Mr. Boguski, Mr. Mauti, Mr. Robinson and Mr. Pasquet available.  So, gentlemen, if you could come forward and be sworn.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 4 - Nuclear Base OM&A and Fuels


Robert Boguski, Sworn


John Mauti, Sworn


Paul Pasquet, Sworn


Bill Robinson, Sworn

Examination-in-chief by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Rupert.


Let me start on my left, your right, and it is almost alphabetical.  Mr. Boguski, you are currently the senior vice president for business services and information technology at OPG?


MR. BOGUSKI:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  But until very recently, you held the position of vice president, nuclear supply chain?


MR. BOGUSKI:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And in that capacity, your responsibilities involved provision of all materials and services required by the nuclear business unit and accountability for quality services, procurement, engineering, supply planning, sourcing contract management, warehousing, inventory management and transportation?


MR. BOGUSKI:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You, I understand, sir, have a bachelor of arts in economics from the University of Victoria?


MR. BOGUSKI:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have been employed with OPG since 2005, when you took on the responsibility for the nuclear supply chain?


MR. BOGUSKI:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Mauti, your position is director nuclear reporting?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  As I understand it, among other things, your responsibilities including -- include maintaining all financial reporting for the OPG nuclear business unit and the management of cost systems that generate cost reporting across that business?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have a bachelor of business administration from Wilfred Laurier University?


MR. MAUTI:  I have, yes.


MR. PENNY:  You have been with OPG since 1991, I understand?


MR. MAUTI:  Correct.


MR. PENNY:  Before that, you did a stint with the Auditor General of Ontario?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  You're a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  And, Mr. Robinson, you are the senior vice president, nuclear programs and training for OPG?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  As the senior vice president, in that role you are responsible for, among other things, the provision of services for nuclear training, security, facilities management, document services, record management and administrative support?


MR. ROBINSON:  Yes, I am.


MR. PENNY:  You are also responsible for the development, implementation and monitoring of major programs that are common to the nuclear stations, including best practices across --


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You, sir, I understand, among other academic pursuits, have a bachelor of science in electrical engineering from the University of Missouri?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have been with OPG since 1998?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And before that, you were, from 1993 to 1998, the site vice president for Shearon Harris nuclear plant for Carolina Power & Light?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You're, among other things, a member of board of governors of Durham College and of the University of Ontario Institute of Technology?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Pasquet, your title is deputy site vice president for Pickering B?


MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  And in that role, you have responsibility for the management of station finances and strategic planning, including the preparation of the stations input into the nuclear business plan?


MR. PASQUET:  That is correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have got a bachelor of applied science in physics?


MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  You have, I understand, been with OPG or OPG's original iteration, Ontario Hydro, since 1979?


MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Gentlemen, you are, I gather, all collectively responsible for the preparation of the evidence that deals with nuclear base OM&A and fuels?


MR. BOGUSKI:  We are.


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  In that connection, that evidence was either prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. MAUTI:  That's correct.


MR. PENNY:  Similarly, the interrogatory responses that were prepared that deal with that evidence, those were prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.


MR. BOGUSKI:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this hearing?


MR. BOGUSKI:  We do.


MR. MAUTI:  We do.


MR. ROBINSON:  Yes.


MR. PASQUET:  Yes.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, I have no substantive questions in examination-in-chief, so we can proceed with Mr. Stephenson, at least.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stephenson.

Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


I want to ask you some questions about nuclear base OM&A.  I am going to be asking some questions of the corporate panel later on, but I do want to touch on a few things that I believe are specific to the nuclear group.


First thing, in the evidence, there is reference to demographic pressures, in terms of the renewal of the work force at OPG, in general, and I wanted to confirm that the nuclear group at OPG, in fact, faces those same pressures.  Am I right about that?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And am I right that that demographic pressure, in fact, is in play with respect to all of your employee groups, whether it be management, whether it be engineering professional group, or whether it be the trades folks that are represented by my client?


MR. ROBINSON:  It is pretty much across the board, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Am I right that when you are facing that renewal, that you're obviously going to be losing a -- you're forecasting that you are going to be losing people across your organization in the next few years; is that fair?


MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of recruitment, I take it you are competing in a labour market with a variety of competitors across North America for these types of people?


MR. ROBINSON:  I would say we're competing more in the local market than we would be across North America.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And are you familiar with -- in the current circumstances, is there an oversupply or, from your perspective, an undersupply of the kinds of people that you need to recruit in the next few years?


MR. ROBINSON:  Currently speaking, with our recruiting programs, we are not -- we are not seeing a shortfall in applicants for the positions for which we are recruiting.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me ask you for a related question here.


One of the issues or one of the concepts I see referred to in the evidence is something called "non-regular employees".  I think I know what that means, and correct me if I am wrong.


Is this a reference to the PWU hiring hall?  Is that at least one category of non-regular employees that we are talking about?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  That would be one of the types.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And maybe I can tell you what I understand about this, and maybe you can assist me.


As I understand it, these are employees that you hire on for temporary periods essentially to assist the company in performing non-permanent sort of peak work.  Is that a fair category -- description?


MR. MAUTI:  That would be one of the reasons we would hire temporaries, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  It is certainly non-permanent work; fair enough?  That's the theory?


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  That would be the theory, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it, one of the advantages to OPG from this arrangement is it allows you to have greater flexibility, in terms of the deployment of your resources.  Fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another advantage to OPG from it, is that you do not incur long-term liabilities in respect of the folks that you hire on, on this basis.

MR. MAUTI:  By long-term liabilities, things like pension costs and whatnot?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I was going to go through the list.  But yes, I take it one of the things you do not incur is that there is no ongoing pension liability?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And there is no ongoing OPEB, other post-employment benefits liability; correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  There are no severance liabilities?

MR. MAUTI:  Other than what would be normal for any employees that are hired on to an organization.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And this is a negotiated arrangement, correct, that this is something that has been worked out as between OPG on the one hand and the PWU on the other; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me talk to you for a moment about overtime.  We see in the evidence that that is one of the labour costs lines, and it goes up and down.

I take it that the biggest driver in terms of the actual overtime dollars in any given year is the number of hours of overtime work in a given year, rather than the rates at which they're paid.  Is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  It is primarily volume-driven.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Again, I take it overtime is used by OPG to give you some more flexibility with respect to deployment of your labour resources.  Fair?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be one.  There are many ways that overtime is used.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But I take it that one of the reasons overtime is used is because it is cheaper, generally speaking, to use overtime, notwithstanding the premium rates, than it would be to hire additional regular staff.

MR. MAUTI:  Now, for things like peaking periods, well, we have a program such at outages where you have a defined volume of work over a short period of time, that would be more beneficial to use overtime, as one example of being able to execute work most efficiently.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I take it another reason that overtime is used is that it is, essentially, backfill on vacancies until they're filled on a permanent basis; correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I have to ask you this question, because somebody on the hydroelectric panel mentioned this.

Cyber security; somebody on the hydroelectric panel indicated they had to increase some complement as a result of need to fulfil certain cyber security demands imposed by NERC.  Does anybody on this panel know anything about that, in the nuclear context?  If the answer is no, that's fine.

MR. ROBINSON:  We've done evaluations with respect to cyber security.  The risk associated with that and nuclear is less than that for the balance of the grid, because it is a concern with the overall grid security, specifically to the nuclear plants.  We look at that and build that into our security program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The last thing I wanted to ask you about is about benchmarking, in terms of compensation costs, at least.  It seemed -- it occurred to me that there is actually a pretty good comparator for OPG on this front, the nuclear group at OPG, and that is Bruce Power.  It struck me that they are -- and I want to explore this with you a little bit -- but it seemed to me they were the single best comparator, if we were looking for comparators out there, in order to benchmark your compensation costs.  Is that fair?

[Witness panel confers]  

MR. MAUTI:  The collective agreements that Bruce Power negotiate with their bargaining groups are separate from OPG's.  I am not familiar with how those arrangements and what negotiations that resulted would cause any differences or changes, but --

MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not asking you to comment on what their actual costs are.  But it occurred to me if we're looking at them from the perspective of are they comparable, there are certain things that would recommend them to us.  And let me just run through a few of them with you, if I can.

Number 1, they're in Ontario.  Fair enough?

MR. MAUTI:  Fair, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Number 2, they operate a, if not an identical, at least a similar technology.  Fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. ROBINSON:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Number 3, their employee groups and skill sets line up reasonably well with your own.  Fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. ROBINSON:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of union representation, it is similar.  Fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. ROBINSON:  Correct.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  OPG used to run the plants.  That's another factor; fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. ROBINSON:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Many of the employees employed as Bruce Power used to be employed at OPG.  They're the very same group of employees historically that you have, in some respects.  Fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. PASQUET:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So you would expect that they would be, without having -- I am not sure you have done this, but at least objectively on the basis of those kinds of considerations, they might well be a reasonably good comparator.

MR. PASQUET:  I think as we stated, there is a separate collective agreement that has been struck between Bruce Power and the PWU, similarly between OPG and the PWU, as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Those were obviously negotiated completely independently one from the other; correct?

MR. PASQUET:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson. 

MR. RUPERT:  I have a question for you, Mr. Penny, for tomorrow.  This is just to help my understanding of what we're going to talk about tomorrow on the panel.

One of the parts of this base OM&A is a number for generation development, $100 million in 2008, 90 in 2009, of which most of which appears to -- a good chunk of it relates to new nuclear build.  

I take it this panel could speak to what's in those amounts, the nature of the costs?

MR. PENNY:  That would be the projects panel, so base OM&A is different from --

MR. RUPERT:  I just ask because it is in the base OM&A table.  That is why I asked the question.  I will give you the reference, and maybe I have misunderstood.

I am looking at Exhibit F, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1, a table called "base OM&A nuclear".

MR. PENNY:  Sorry, F1 --

MR. RUPERT:  Sorry.  F2.

MR. PENNY:  F2.

MR. RUPERT:  Tab 2, schedule 1, table 1.

MR. PENNY:  Table 1.  F 2, schedule 1, table 1.

MR. RUPERT:  I don't know if you have it here, line 13, a line called "generation development" which has a hundred million in 2008 and 90 million in 2009.

MR. PENNY:  While it is in that table, for internal purposes it is regarded as base OM&A at the moment because it hasn't been approved as a project.  But the witness who can testify to that is actually going to be on the project.  It's Laurie Swami, and she is on the projects panel.

MR. RUPERT:  When we get to that panel, and there is a question of what's in it.  There is also a question I would like to make sure gets explored, which is:  Is it part of OM&A or projects, period, or is it a deferral account item under the regulation?  Is that one that is fair for this project panel, or is that a deferral and variance account question at the end of the hearing?

MR. PENNY:  I think that is a deferral account issue.

MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. PENNY:  As I understood it, no one else is prepared to go today, so I think we will --

MR. KAISER:  You will be ready to proceed at 9:30 tomorrow, Mr. Rodger?

MR. RODGER:  Yes, I will.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will adjourn until then.  Thank you, gentlemen.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.
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